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AMENDED REASONS FOR ORDER
Rip, C.J.

[1]] Cameco Corporation (*Cameco"), the appellant in an appeal to the Court from
an assessment of income tax for its 2003 taxation year, has moved for an order in
accordance with section 53 of the Tax Court of Canada Rules (General Procedure)
("Rules") striking out the following portions of the reply to the notice of apped filed
by the respondent or such other relief as this Court deemsjust:

() subparagraphs 14(q), (v), (bbb), (ddd)(ii), (fff), (ggg). (iii),
(kkkK), (tttt) and paragraphs 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 24, 25, 26 and 28
(collectively, the "Subject Paragraphs’)*.

[2] Cameco's grounds for its motion ("Cameco Motion") are that the respondent
falled to provide particulars in respect of which a demand was served on the
respondent on or about January 25, 2010 pursuant to section 52 of the Rules and
therefore the Subject Paragraphs:

! The Subject Paragraphs are contained in Schedule A to these reasons. Schedule A aso
contains extracts of the Demand for Particulars served by the appellant on the respondent
giving rise to the motion for an order to strike.
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(i) constitute an abuse of the process of the Court within the
meaning of paragraph 53(c) of the Rules;

(i) may prgudice or delay the fair hearing of the action within the
meaning of paragraph 53(a) of the Rules; and

(ii1) fal to conform to the requirements of subsection 49(1) of the
Rules.

[3] The appdlant's notice of motion to strike was supported by the affidavit of
Helen Ferrigan, sworn on April 21, 2010, who was subsequently examined on her
affidavit. Ms. Ferrigan is a lawyer with Cameco's firm of solicitors, Oder, Hoskin &
Harcourt ("Ode™) in Toronto. Ms. Ferrigan is an associate in the firm's tax section
but, at the time of taking the affidavit, had not worked on the Cameco file.

[4] The respondent was not satisfied with the answers or lack of answers given by
Ms. Ferrigan on her cross-examination and therefore moved for an order striking out
her affidavit ("Crown Motion"). The ground for the motion was that Cameco failed to
permit effective cross-examination of Ms. Ferrigan contrary to section 74 of the
Rules and, in particular:

a) faled to provide the file(s) referred to in Helen Ferrigan's
affidavit in a timey manner despite request for same, but
provided redacted versions only after the concluson of
cross-examination;

b)  wrongfully clamed privilege over documentsin the file(s);

C) put forth an affidavit from an affiant who did not have adequate
knowledge of the matters in her affidavit and failed to take
adequate steps to inform herself of the matters deposed to in the
affidavit; and

d) provided no explanation as to the necessty of having
Ms. Ferrigan swear an affidavit when she had no persona
knowledge, as opposed to having those individuals who did have
persona knowledge and were available, to swear an affidavit.

[5] Thetwo motions were heard on the same day, the Crown Motion being heard
first.
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[6] The subject matter of the appeal by Cameco iswhat is generdly referred to as
"transfer price" transactions between a Canadian taxpayer and a non-resident person
who do not ded at arm's length. The issue in appedl is the interpretation and
application of subsection 247(2) of the Income Tax Act ("Act"). Appellant's counsdl
declared that this is one of the first appeals to consider the interpretation and
application of the "re-characterization” rule in paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d) of the Act
and only the second one dealing with transfer pricing provisions set out in
paragraphs 247(a) and (c).

[7] Sometime after its Notice of Appeal and the Reply to the Notice of Appeal
("Reply") had been filed, but before the Motion for Particulars was served, the
appellant had indicated to the respondent that it planned to file an answer to the reply.
The respondent had granted the appellant several delays to file its answer but an
answer has never been served. The parties had aso agreed to exchange documentsin
accordance with section82 of the Rules but, again, no documents have been
exchanged between the parties.

[8] I will consider first the Crown's motion to strike the affidavit of Ms. Ferrigan.

[9] A copy of Ms. Ferrigan's affidavit, but not including exhibits attached thereto,
Is attached as Appendix "B".

[10] One of the Crown's arguments is that the affidavit conssts of hearsay
evidence. The Crown acknowledges that hearsay evidence may be permitted in an
affidavit but only if it is reliable and necessary®. In the present case, counsd
submitted, neither reliability nor necessity exists.

[11] Reiability does not exist according to the Crown because Ms. Ferrigan did not
have personal knowledge of the facts deposed and she did not properly inform
herself. The affidavit also contained omissions, according to the Crown.

[12] The transcript of the cross-examination of Ms. Ferrigan was produced.
Counsd for the respondent reviewed the transcript citing examples of what she
considered the deponent's unreliability. Much of the information contained in her
affidavit was based on information Ms. Ferrigan received from another lawyer at
Oder, Mr.MacDonald. The main thrust of the respondent's argument that
Ms. Ferrigan's affidavit be struck is that she failed to take reasonable steps to inform

2 R. v. Khelawon, 2006 SCC 57, [2006] 2 S.C.R. 787, at paras 2 and 3.
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herself about the accuracy of her affidavit and its omissions. The Crown also claims
that the affidavit fails to provide materials referenced or reviewed in a "timely and
accurate manner”. In the respondent's view a more knowledgeable person ought to
have taken the affidavit. Thus, the Crown's counsal concluded, the appellant did not
want to permit cross-examination of a knowledgeable person and, as a result, the
respondent was unfairly denied its opportunity to test the accuracy of the evidence
before the Court.

[13] In paragraph 1 of the affidavit, Ms. Ferrigan deposes that "... based on my
review of correspondence in the file ..." she had persona knowledge of the matters
described in the affidavit. However, according to her cross-examination she was
unaware of a letter dated May 3, 2010 from the Crown counsel, Ms. Naomi
Goldstein, to appellant's counsel requesting "copies of correspondence in the file,
references or other relevant files reviewed by Ms. Ferrigan, including electronic
information ..." or of the reply by her firm to Crown counsdl the same day. In the
reply Cameco's counsdl stated that before signing her affidavit "Ms. Ferrigan had
access to only the hard copy of the Crown and Court correspondence folders
maintained by Oder...". Ms. Ferrigan advised us that she did not look at any
documents in those folders, except documents appended as exhibits to her [draft]
affidavit". Appdllant's counsal, Ms. AlexandraBrown, a partner at Oder, offered to
provide copies to the respondent of "everything Ms. Ferrigan reviewed before
swearing her affidavit”, including the relevant file with privileged material redacted.
Since Ms. Ferrigan did not review any other material relied on for her affidavit,
appellant's counsel refused to provide copies of other material requested by the
respondent.

[14] It appears that some of the Oder correspondence folders in this appea contain
all hard copies of correspondence and copies of some emails. According to
Ms. Ferrigan, Oder has no set policy as to what emails are to be printed and placed
on file and which emails remain electronicaly stored; it is at the discretion of the
lawyer. Ms. Ferrigan did not review emails electronically stored nor did she ask her
colleagues if there were any such emails that could affect her affidavit. And nobody
at the firm suggested that there were relevant emails.

[15] Ms. Ferigan read the "specific exhibits' to her affidavit, but not all
correspondence on the files. She did review certain emails as well as pleadings, the
notice of motion and a letter from the tax authority to the appellant dated January 10,
2007.
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[16] Ms. Goldstein, respondent's counsel, complained that material offered by the
appellant was not sufficient since without the electronic information she could not
properly conduct a cross-examination as to what statements in the affidavit are true or
not. One example of eectronic information Ms. Goldstein would have expected to
recelve, she said, would be information Mr. MacDonald sent by email to his
colleagues regarding the demand for particulars. Ms. Brown stated that this
information would be privileged.

[17] Respondent's counsel questioned Ms. Ferrigan with respect to paragraph 8 of
her affidavit, that is, what did she know of the indefinite extension granted by the
respondent to the appellant to file an answer to the reply, subject to the extension
being revoked on 30days notice to the appelant. Ms. Ferrigan's source of
information of the extension was contained in a letter from both counsel to the Court
on February 24, 2010. However, Ms. Ferrigan was not aware of the origin of the
request for the extension nor its date. Respondent's counsel referred her to an email
dated December 1, 2009 from counseal to Ms. Brown in which counsal confirms that
the Crown consentsto the extension "for at least 30 days'.

[18] At request of appellant's counsdl, the period for filing an answer was later
extended but would be revocable on 30 days notice to the appellant. On February 10,
2010, according to respondent's counsel, appellant's counsdl asked that the extension
be due 15days after the Crown responded to the Demand for Particulars.
Ms. Ferrigan was unaware of thisinformation at the time she swore her affidavit. She
was aso unaware that the Crown granted the original extension to file an answer
prior to the appellant serving a Demand for Particulars. When Ms. Ferrigan was
asked again if she "looked" through al the Cameco files referred to on
cross-examination, she answered "Yes | flipped through all four of the files' but did
not read every document. The file folders contained copies of correspondence
between Oder lawyers and Crown lawyers. Indeed, the cross-examination of
Ms. Ferrigan attempted to suggest that there were other lawyers at Oder who,
because of their work on the file, could have been better candidates to make the
affidavit.

[19] Inre-examination by Ms. Brown, Ms. Ferrigan confirmed that the demand for
particulars and the notice of appea as well as the reply were in files she reviewed.
She described the four correspondence files in Cameco's appeal maintained by Oder
were in Ms. Brown's two yellow folders of correspondence with the Tax Court of
Canada and the Crown respectively, and two manillafolders containing, respectively,
Mr. Meghi's files of correspondence with the Court and Crown. In some files
Ms. Ferrigan reviewed there were notes that said: "redacted for solicitor-client
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privilege'. Except for such notes, there was no difference in the files Ms. Ferrigan
reviewed. All correspondence to the Court by Oder was copied to the Department of
Justice except when there was possible misfiling.

[20] Ms. Goldstein objected to the limited production of the files arguing that the
Crown was entitled to "full copies of the Oder files, including e ectronic documents
that are relevant to this process’, and that the appellant failed to comply with the
Crown's request for the files Ms. Ferrigan reviewed. Notwithstanding able argument
by Ms. Goldstein | cannot agree with her that the appellant waived privilege as to
permit the Crown to access these files. The fact that the appellant was prepared to
provide certain documents in the files to the Crown is not awaiver of privilege.

[21] Ms. Ferrigan was aso questioned on her statement in paragraph 15 of her
affidavit that the audit of Cameco's internationa transactions by the Canada Revenue
Agency ("CRA™) for 2003 began about January 10, 2007. She appears to have relied
on a letter, dated January 10, 2007 from the CRA to Mr. R. Belosowsky, assistant
treasurer of Cameco, informing the taxpayer that the writer had been assigned to
audit the internationa transactions of Cameco. However, lawyers from Oder had
atended a interviews with CRA and Cameco executives before January 10.
Ms. Ferrigan learned about these meetings only when she read the affidavit of
Barry McKenzie, an officia of the CRA, in opposition to the Cameco Motion.

[22] Respondent's counsel argued that Ms. Ferrigan was not the person to take the
affidavit since, among other things, she had no involvement with the file before
mid-April 2010 and had no knowledge of the litigation except what she was informed
or read in documents attached to the draft affidavit. While Mr. MacDonad informed
her of the appeal — which she refers to in paragraphs 4, 6 and 7 of her affidavit —
Ms. Ferrigan did not seek confirmation of Mr. MacDonald's advice or information to
her; she did ask for a"little bit" of elaboration only.

[23] Aswill be gpparent from these reasons, notwithstanding certain omissions in
the affidavit of Ms. Ferrigan, the affidavit is not critical to my findings and will not
be struck. The Subject Paragraphs that | strike are defective on their face without the
need to refer to Ms. Ferrigan's affidavit. The matters she deposed to, and the matters
that her cross-examination reved, is that she was ignorant of negotiations and
purported agreements and correspondence between counsel concerning delays for
filing an answer, for example, but, at the end of the day, the omissions in her affidavit
or that some other lawyer may have been a better choice to take the affidavit do not
make defective pleadings good so that they are immune from being struck.
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[24] Asprevioudy stated, the reasons for the Cameco Motion is that the respondent
failed to provide particulars demanded by Cameco.

[25] The Crown's answer to the appellant's Demand for Particulars was that in its
view "most of the particulars cannot be known to the respondent until the conclusion
of discoveries and/or the exchange of expert reports'. To which appellant's counsdl
replied that "it is difficult, for example, to understand how the Crown can be unaware
of the material facts in relation to postions that underlie the reassessment. We
understand you to say that the Crown is not aware of particulars with respect to the
aternative positions pleaded but it is difficult to appreciate how this can be the case
with respect to the assumptions in reassessing.” Appellant's counsal then advised the
respondent’s counsel that it was considering filing a motion to strike.

[26] Inthe view of the appellant, the absence of particulars demanded requires that
the Subject Paragraphs be struck on the grounds that they may prejudice or delay the
fair hearing of the appeal, are an abuse of the process of the Court, and do not
conform to the requirements of Rule49(1). It may well be, for reasons mentioned
later, that both applications before me are abuses of the process of the Court.

[27] The fact that a party refuses to supply particulars of an allegation in its
pleadings is not necessarily an abuse of the process of the Court within the meaning
of Rule53(c). The Demand for Particulars itself may sometimes be an abuse of the
Court process and may itself prgjudice or delay the fair hearing of the action since
there may be a good reason for arefusal to supply a particular.

[28] Where a party fails to supply the particulars of an alegation in a pleading to
the other party within 30 days, Rule53 permits the party who demanded the
particulars to apply to the Court for an order that the particulars be delivered within a
gpecified time. This should be the normal course selected by the demanding party.
During a hearing of the application, the motion judge will consider the bona fides of
the demand for particulars.

[29] A motion to strike out or expunge al or part of a pleading for failure to
provide particulars generaly should be taken only as matter of last resort, when a
party has failed to comply with an order made pursuant to Rule52, for example
striking out a pleading or a portion thereof can befatal to aparty. Only in exceptiona
circumstances should a party first apply to strike out or expunge al or part of a
pleading.
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[30] Inthe matter before me the appellant has not led satisfactory evidence of abuse
of process. There is nothing suggesting abuse of process in Ms. Ferrigan's affidavit.
However, a reading of the Subject Paragraphs does cause me some concern because
of the Crown's reply to the demand, that is, "most particulars cannot be known until
the conclusion of discoveries ...". The Crown has an obligation to provide the
appellant with materia facts it applied in making the assessment. Indeed, the Crown's
failure to plead materia facts assumed in assessing may weaken the Crown's defence
of an assessment.

[31] The Minister of Nationa Revenue ("Minister”) audited Cameco and
reassessed Cameco, according to its counsel, pursuant to paragraphs 247(a) and (c).
The Minister's assumptions on assessing are set out in paragraph 14 of the reply and
reiterated in paragraphs 24 and 25. Appellant argues that in these Subject Paragraphs
the respondent failed to plead in precise terms or to particularize and pleaded as
assumptions of fact conclusions of mixed fact and law.

[32] During the course of the audit, counsel informs me, the Minister considered
but decided against reassessing pursuant to paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d). Counsel
refers to the latter provisions as the "re-characterization theory". In its reply the
Crown has pleaded paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d) but, states counsel, "even though,
by its own admission, it is unable to particularize any of the materia facts' relating to
the re-characterization theory before discovery or exchange of experts reports. The
re-characterization theory isfound in paragraphs 15 and 26 of the reply.

[33] Paragraphs15 and 26, according to appellant's counsdl, are pled vaguely to
justify a fishing expedition and discovery. The Crown has smply recited the text of
the relevant statutory provisions without any elements attaching to the statutory
provisions, counsel declared. Also, there are failings to plead materia facts, the
essential factua elements of paragraphs247(2)(b) and (d), and to plead as
assumptions the facts that led the Minister to conclude that paragraphs 247(2)(b) and
(d) did not apply. In pleading assumptions of fact in assessing, the Minister need not
list factsit assumed in not assessing.

[34] The Crown also aleged in its reply that subsection 56(2) of the Act and the
doctrine of sham may apply, dlegations that were not considered during the
assessing process. Counsel refersto this as "new theories' and he says are set forth in
paragraphs 16, 17, 18, 19 and 28 of the reply and these paragraphs, like others, are
pled vagudly to justify a fishing expedition on discovery and do not plead material
facts.
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[35] Asmentioned earlier it was because particulars were refused that the appellant
made this application to strike certain portions of the Crown's reply. | note the
principles to be applied on a motion to strike under Rule53 are set out by
Bowman C.J. in Senting Hill Productions (1999) Corporation et al. v. The Queen:®

@ The facts as alleged in the impugned pleading must be taken as true
subject to the limitations stated in Operation Dismantle Inc. v. Canada,
[1985] 1 S.C.R. 441 at 455. It is not open to a party attacking a pleading
under Rule 53 to challenge assertions of fact.

(b) To strike out a pleading or part of a pleading under Rule 53 it must be
plain and obvious that the position has no hope of succeeding. Thetestisa
stringent one and the power to strike out a pleading must be exercised with
great care.

(© A motions judge should avoid usurping the function of the trial judge in
making determinations of fact or relevancy. Such matters should be left to
the judge who hears the evidence.

(d) Rule 53 and not Rule 58, is the appropriate rule on a motion to strike.

[36] In the application at bar the appelant submits that the Subject Paragraphs are
incomplete in that they lack particulars explaining the allegations of facts, that they
are mixed fact and law or that the alegations of fact without any particulars are
simply a fishing expedition by the Crown. And it is not plain and obvious that the
Crown has no hope of succeeding in defence of its assessment.

[37] Neither counsd, it seems to me, has displayed any great effort to grease the
wheel that operates the appeal process. The respondent's reply contains assumptions
that lack many materia facts. Respondent counsdl's reply that one would have to
await discovery for answers was glib, inviting action from the other side. On the
other hand, the appellant had indicated it would prepare an answer to the reply and
the respondent granted extensions to the appellant to file an answer. That the
appellant's counsal informed opposing counsel that it was anticipating filing an
answer to the reply would suggest to most reasonable people that the appellant was
not planning to attack any provision of the reply notwithstanding that there may be
irregularities in the reply*. The parties had also agreed to exchange documents in
accordance with section 82 of the Rules. In the meantime counsd for the appellant,
keeping things close to their vests and not informing colleagues on the other side,

3 2008 DTC 2544 at p. 2545, par. 4.
4 Although not on point, see Sandia Mountain Holdings Inc. v. The Queen, 2005 DTC 382,
par. 18.
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were preparing to serve a demand for particulars which, as respondent's counsel
stated, if the information were not provided, would be met with a motion to strike
portions of the reply.

[38] My impression from hearing these applications is that both parties are using
tactics that will end up in some sort of skirmishing that, as Bowman C.J. observed in
Sackman v. The Queen® and Satin Finish Hardwood Flooring (Ontario) Limited v.
The Queen® would see this Court turned into a forum for procedural manoeuvring
and lawyer upmanship. Appeals are taking longer and longer and counsel have a
responsibility to not only use but also exploit their skills and talent to ensure that
procedures leading to the hearing of the appeal, as well as the hearing itself, are done
efficiently and with mutual respect of counsdl.

[39] Respondent's counsel cited Vogo Inc. v. Acme Window Hardware Ltd. ” and
Kossow v. R. ? as authorities to support its alegation that the appellant made a
"fresh step” when it agreed to exchange documents after service of the reply and then
attacked the respondent's pleading seeking particulars. In Kossow the tria judge held
that the appellant pleaded over the reply and implicitly accepted the irregularities.
The appellant did not bring amotion to strike until two and a half years after learning
of irregularities. The Federal Court of appeal agreed with the Tax Court.

[40] This is not the case here; appellant's counsd had only agreed to proceed
according to section 82 of the Rules. | cannot conclude that this constitutes pleading
over the Crown's reply. Counsel did not provide with any case to support her position
that the appellant made a fresh step in these circumstances’.

[41] A step should not be considered a "fresh step” for purposes of section 8 of the
Rules, in my view, if the primary reason for agreeing to a step is to expedite the
appeal process. For example, even before areply is filed, the parties may agree to a
schedule of procedures, including when documents will be exchanged under
section 82 of the Rules.

° 2007 TCC 455, 2007 DTC 1346, par. 25.
6 96 DTC 1402, 1405.

! [2004] F.C.J. No. 1042 (QL), para. 60, where O'Keefe J. explained the purpose of the "fresh
step” rule.

8 2009 FCA 83, 2009 DTC 5799 (FCA), paras. 16 and 17, 2008 DTC 4408.

9 Note that section 8 of the Rules provides that a motion to attack a step should not be made if

the moving party has taken any further step in the proceeding after obtaining knowledge of
theirregularity.
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[42] Withadl thissaid, there are Subject Paragraphs | shall leave asis and other that
| will order to be struck.

[43] The appdlant states that the assumptions of fact in Subject Paragraphs 14(q),
(v), (bbb), (ddd)(ii), (fff), (999), (jjj), (kkkk) and (tttt) of the reply and the related
submissions in paragraph 24 and 25 are "deliberately vague' and contain conclusions
of mixed fact and law and ought to be struck with leave to amend.

[44] Subject Paragraphs 14(ddd)(ii), (kkkk) and (tttt) do alege materia facts,
perhaps not al the materia facts. This is not fatal. As my colleague BowieJ.
explained in Teelucksingh v. The Queen'® "assertions as to value, that parties do not
act a arm's length, that they did not carry on a business, that expenses were not
incurred, or were not incurred for a particular purpose are assertions of fact. Certainly
those facts have legal implications, and some of them are words that are used in the
Act, but they are nevertheless factua assumptions.” The specifics of the material facts
in these Subject Paragraphs may be obtained on discovery of a representative of the
Crown.

[45] Subject Paragraph 14(q) alleges that the appellant restructured its business in
order to obtain tax benefits™. Whether or not a tax benefit existed is a question of
fact™; the taxpayer is entitled to know what story the fisc is making against it. A bald
assertion that the Minister assumed a tax benefit isinappropriate. There are many tax
benefits, as appellant's counsal explains in his submissions, and the taxpayer is
entitled to know in the Crown's reply what benefit precisely the Crown is assuming™.
Asits counsel stated, the appellant may be prepared to admit to certain tax benefits.

10 2010 TCC 94, at par. 11.

1 The alegation of fact in Subject Paragraph 14(q) has caused me more than usua concern.
That the business was restructured for a tax benefit may aso be relevant to the Crown's
alternate argument that paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d) of the Act apply. In fact, whether a
transaction or series of transactions would have been entered into to obtain a tax benefit is
key to the "recharacterization theory". One may question whether the Crown's advantage
that the facts it assumes in making an assessment are deemed to be true are being
"transferred” as truth of the same facts in its alternative argument. For example, in the
appeal at bar, a tax benefit is assumed for the assessment under paragraphs 247(2)(a) and
(c). Would the Court be thus compelled to find that the same tax benefit existed for
paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d) as well? This may be sufficient reason for Subject Paragraph
14(q) to be struck. Counsdl did not argue this point and is something best I€eft to the tria
judgein any event.

12 Canada Trustco Mortgage Co. v. R, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 601 at para. 19.

3 See comments of Bowman J. (as he then was) in Ver v. Canada, [1995] T.C.J. 593 (QL),

para. 13(f).
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[46] Subject Paragraph 14(q) will therefore be struck with leave to amend setting
out the alleged tax benéfits.

[47] The word "substantive" in Subject Paragraph 14(v) is too subjective aword to
be preceded by the word "all" and is thus open ended. The appellant ought to know
what substantive functions the Crown is aluding to. The Subject Paragraph 14(v)
will be struck with leave to amend.

[48] Subject Paragraph 14(bbb) is another key alegation in this appeal alleging that
the transfer prices on the sales and purchases in issue were not consistent with an
arm's length price. The appellant is entitled to know what prices are consistent with
an arm's length prices to the extent that such prices cannot be determined by
reference to the amount of tax assessed. This paragraph will be struck with leave to
amend.

[49] Subject Paragraphs 14(fff), (ggg) and (jjjj) will be struck with leave to amend.
The contents of these paragraphs are mixed fact and conclusions of law, in particular
aparaphrase of paragraph 247(2)(a) of the Act.

[50] Subject Paragraphs 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 24, 25, 26 and 28 are contained in that
part of the reply which subsections49(g), (h) and (i) of the Rules describe as
"statutory provisions relied on, the reasons the respondent intends to rely on and the
relief sought". They provide arguments to support the party's position.

[51] Subject Paragraph 24 describes a number of facts and the trial judge will be in
a better position than a motion judge to rule if this paragraph ought to be struck.
Subject Paragraph 25, on the other hand, leaves me, let done the appellant,
wondering how persons dealing a arm's length would have structured these
transactions. Subject Paragraph 25 will be struck with leave to amend.

[52] Appellant states that paragraphs 15 and 26 of the reply should be struck on the
grounds that they are an abuse of the process of the Court. The Crown isinvoking the
re-characterization theory, appellant counsel argues, not because it has a factua and
legal basis to do so, but hopes to find such a basis on a fishing expedition on
discovery.

[53] Paragraphs15 and 26 of the reply are new arguments in support of the
assessment; thisis in accordance with subsection 152(9) of the Act. Notwithstanding
that a time of assessment the Minister may have considered the application of



Page: 13

paragraphs 247(2)(b) and (d) of the Act and rgected it, once an apped is filed, the
litigation is regulated and controlled by the Attorney Generd and alternative
arguments in support of the assessment may be pleaded. Appellant's counsel accused
the Crown of failing "to plead (in the assumptions paragraphs) the facts that led the
Minister to decide against invoking these provisions." As previously mentioned, the
assumptions paragraphs set out the assumptions of fact the Minister made in
assessing a taxpayer, not facts the Minister considered in not assessing in a certain

way.

[54] Paragraphs 15 and 26 of the reply contain mixed fact and law but they are not
assumptions of fact relied on by the Minister in assessing. The tria judge will bein a
better position than me to determine whether or not the relevance of these
paragraphs of the reply, in particular paragraph 15, affect the principa basis of the
assessment, i.e. paragraphs 247(2)(a) and (c), or only the aternate submissions.

[55] Findly, appellant states that paragraphs16, 17, 18, 19 and 28 of the reply
should be struck on the grounds they are an abuse of the Court since they advance
new theories and in so doing, enable the Crown to engage in a fishing operation on
discovery. The Crown is entitled to advance alternative arguments and examine the
appellant on discovery. But discovery should not be open-ended. In order to avoid
delaying further this appea any longer and in an attempt to demarcate the scope of
the discovery with respect to these paragraphs | will order the parties to prepare and
file aplan of discovery for matters related to paragraphs 16, 17, 18, 19 and 28 of the
reply at least 30 days before the date agreed to for discovery™. The plan will bein
writing and include the intended scope of the discovery limited to the specific facts
described in paragraphs 16, 17, 18, 19 and 28. Failure of the parties to agree may
affect costs. This, hopefully, will permit the parties to properly prepare for discovery
without any further skirmishing.

[56] The tria judge will best appreciate the importance of these motions to the
appedl itself. Costs of the motionswill therefore be at the discretion of thetrial judge.

[57] These amended reasons for order are issued in substitution of the reasons for
order issued on December 30, 2010.

1 Department of Justice Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. J-2, s.s. 5(d).
© The parties may seek guidance under Rule 29.1.03 of the Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure:
RRO 1990, Reg. 194.
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Signed at Ottawa, Canada, this 12th day of January 2011.

"Gerald J. Rip"

Rip C.J.



SCHEDULE A

Extract of the Reply filed by the Respondent on November 27,
2009

Reevant extract of the Demand for Particulars served by the
Applicant on January 25, 2010.

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

() Canco restructured its business in order to obtain tax benefits;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(b) with respect to (q), the tax benefits to be obtained by Canco.

14. In so reassessing the Appdllant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(v) dl substantive functions relating to Swissco's alleged
business were performed by Canco pursuant to a Services
Agreement or otherwise;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(@ with respect to (v), al of the "substantive functions' being
referred to in this subparagraph.

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(bbb) the transfer prices for uranium on the sales by Canco to
Swissco and the purchases by Canco from Swissco were not
consistent with an arm’s length price;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(d) with respect to (bbb),

(i) for each of the relevant sales by Canco to Swissco, the
am's length price (in dollars) that the Minister
considered that Swissco should have paid to Canco for
the uranium sold to it; and

(i) for each of the relevant purchases by Canco from
Swissco, the arm's length price (in dollars) that the
Minister considered that Canco should have paid to
Swissco for the uranium sold to it.

14. In so reassessing the Appdllant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...
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(ddd) the Minister did not accept that the CUP method proposed
by the Appelant was an accurate method for determining an
arm's length transfer price for the following reasons

(i) there are unquantifiable differences between the
transactions provided by the appellant as CUPs and the
transactions between Canco and Swissco;

(&) with respect to (ddd)(ii), the differences between the
transactions provided by the Appdlant as CUPs and the
transactions between Canco and Swissco, that are unquantifiable.

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(fff) the terms and conditions made or imposed in respect of the
sale and purchase of uranium between Canco and Swissco differ
from those that would have been made between persons dealing
at arm'slength;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(f) with respect to (fff),

how the terms and conditions made or imposed in
respect of the sale and purchase of uranium between
Canco and Swissco differ from those that would have
been made between persons dealing at arm's length;
and

(i)

the quantum of the amount that would have been
determined and included in the Appellant's income as
described in paragraph 13 if the terms and conditions
made or imposed in respect of the sale and purchase
uranium between Canco and Swissco were those that
would have been made by persons dedling at arm's
length.

(if)

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(ggg) the terms and conditions made or imposed in respect of the
services provided by Canco to Luxco and Swissco differ from
those that would have been made between persons deding at
arm's length;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions alegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(9) with respect to (ggg),

() how the terms and conditions made or imposed in
respect of the services provided by Canco to Luxco and
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Swissco differ from those that would have been made
between persons dealing at arm's length; and

(i) the quantum of the amount that would have been
determined and included in the Appellant's income as
described in paragraph 13 if the terms and conditions
made or imposed in respect of the services provided by
Canco to Luxco and Swissco were those that would
have been made by persons dealing at arm'’s length.

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(jjj) Canco provided services to Luxco (later Swissco) in
relation to the transactions with Tenex, Urenco Limited and
other third parties, the terms and conditions of which differed
from those that would have been made between persons dealing
at arm'slength;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions alegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(h) with respect to (jjjj),

(i) how the terms and conditions of the services provided
by Canco to Luxco (later Swissco) in relation to the
transactions with Tenex, Urenco Limited and other third
parties differ from those that would have been made
between persons dealing at arm's length; and

(i) the quantum of the amount that would have been
determined and included in the Appellant's income as
described in paragraph 13 if the terms and conditions
referred to in (i) above were those that would have been
made by persons dealing at arm's length.

14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the
following assumption: ...

(kkkk) the revenue realized under the agreement with Tenex
belonged to Canco based on the functions it performed and the
risks it undertook;

With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions allegedly
made by the Minister, particulars of: ...

(i) with respect to (KKKK),

(i) the functions performed by Canco with respect to the
Tenex Agreement; and
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(i) the risks undertaken by Canco with respect to the Tenex

Agreement.
9. 14. In s0 reassessing the Appellant, the Minister made, inter alia, the | With respect to paragraph 14 which sets out the assumptions alegedly
following assumption: ... made by the Minister, particulars of: ...
(tttt) the revenue redlized under the agreement with Urenco (i) with respect to (tttt),
belonged to Canco based on the functions it performed and the
risks it undertook; (i) the functions performed by Canco with respect to the
Urenco Agreement; and
(if) the risks undertaken by Canco with respect to the
Urenco Agreement.
10. | 15. Canco and Luxco (and later Swissco) were participants in a | With respect to the section entitled "Further Facts', particulars of:

transaction or series of transactions or arrangements involving Canco,
Luxco, Swissco, Tenex, Urencco, Barbco and USco relating to the
purchase and sale of uranium. The transactions or series of transactions
or arrangements among Canco, Luxco, Swissco, Tenex, Urenco,
Barbco and USco:

(& would not have been entered into between persons dealing at
arm's length and

(b) were not entered into primarily for a bona fide business
purpose other than to obtain atax benefit.

(@ with respect to paragraph 15,

() the"transaction" and the transactions or arrangements
in the "series of transactions or arrangements’ being
referred to;

(i) why the transaction or series of transactions or
arrangements would not have been entered into
between persons dealing at arm's length;,

(iii) thetransaction or series of transaction or arrangements

that would have been entered into between persons

dealing at arm's length;

(iv) why the transaction or series of transactions or
arrangements can be considered not to have been
entered into primarily for a bone fide purpose other
than to obtain atax benefit;
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(v) the facts indicating that the transaction or series of
transactions or arrangements was entered into
primarily for the purpose of obtaining atax benefit;

(vi) the tax benefit to be received by the Appellant as a
consequence of this transaction or series of
transactions or arrangements;

(vii) whether the tax benefit arises from a transaction, or a
series of transactions or a series of arrangements; and

(viii) the quantum of the amount that would have been
determined and included in the Appellant's income as
described in paragraph 13 if the transaction or series of
transactions or arangements referred to in
paragraph 15 had been entered into between persons
dealing at arm's length.

11

16. The terms or conditions made or imposed in respect of the Services
Agreement between Canco and first, Luxco and then Swissco differ
from those that would have been made between persons dedling at
arm'slength.

With respect to the section entitled "Further Facts', particulars of:

(b) with respect to paragraph 16,

() how the terms and conditions made or imposed in
respect of the Services Agreement between Canco and
first Luxco and then Swissco differ from those that
would have been made between persons dealing at arm's
length; and

(i) the quantum of the amount that would have been
determined and included in the Appellant's income as
described in paragraph 13 if the terms and conditions
made or imposed in respect of the Services Agreement
were those that would have been made by persons
dealing a arm's length.
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12. | 17. Swissco had neither the resources nor the expertise to carry out the | With respect to the section entitled "Further Facts', particulars of:
contracts with Tenex or with Urenco.
(c) with respect to paragraph 17, the resources and expertise
necessary to carry out the contracts with Tenex and Urenco that
Swissco lacked.
13. | 18. The agreements with Tenex and Urenco were transferred pursuant | With respect to the section entitled "Further Facts', particulars of:
to the direction of Canco to Luxco and ultimately to Swissco for the
benefit of Canco or as a benefit that Canco desired to have conferred (d) with respect to paragraph 18,
on its subsidiaries Luxco and Swissco.
() the agreements which were transferred from Canco to
Luxco (and ultimately to Swissco);
(if) whether the agreements referred to were transferred
"pursuant to the direction of Canco” or transferred as a
benefit that Canco desired to have conferred on its
subsidiaries Luxco and Swissco, and how this transfer
was achieved,
(iif) when the benefit was conferred on Luxco and Swissco
by thistransfer; and
(iv) the quantum of the benefit that was conferred on Luxco
and Swissco by this transfer.
14. | 19. The series of transactions directed by Canco amount to a sham | With respect to the section entitled "Further Facts', particulars of:

designed to deceive the Minister into concluding that Swissco, not
Canco, was undertaking a business and incurring real risks. Canco was
performing al the business functions relating to the Tenex and Urenco
agreements, Canco was ultimately liable for all of Swissco's financia
and performance obligations under the guarantees it was required to
provide to Tenex and Urenco, Canco was performing all functions
under the Services Agreement between it and Luxco, and later Swissco
and Luxco and Swissco had neither the financia nor human resources

(e) with respect to paragraph 19,

() the transactions that comprise the series of transactions
that constitute a sham;

(i) al the business functions relating to the Tenex and
Urenco Agreements performed by Canco; and
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to undertake its contractual obligations.

(iii) the financial and human resources necessary for Luxco
and Swissco to undertake its contractual obligations.

15.

24. He submits that Canco was a participant in a transaction or series
of transactions with Luxco and later with Swissco, the terms or
conditions of which differed from those that would have been made
between persons dealing a arm's length within the meaning of
paragraph 247(2)(a) of the Income Tax Act. The series of transactions
was as follows: (i) Canco negotiated the agreements with Tenex and
Urenco; (ii) Canco incorporated a subsidiary in Luxembourg and
directed Luxco to form a branch in Switzerland; (iii) Canco directed
Luxco to apply for atax ruling from the Internal Revenue Service; (iv)
Canco caused Luxco to execute agreements with Tenex, Urenco and
other third parties;, (v) Canco provided a guarantee to Tenex and
Urenco guaranteeing the performance by Luxco and later Swissco; (vi)
Luxco and later Swissco subcontracted back to Canco for Canco to
perform contract administration, inventory management, market
analysis service and administrative services under the Services
Agreement; and (vii) Canco directed al aspects of the agreements with
Tenex, Urenco and other third parties.

With respect to the section entitled "Statutory Provisions, Grounds
Relied on, and Relief Sought", particulars of:

(@ with respect to paragraph 24,
(i) for each of (i) to (vii) referred to,
(A)
(B) how the terms and conditions of that transaction

differ from those that would have been made
between persons dealing at arm's length.

the transaction being referred to; and

16.

25. He submits that the terms or conditions made or imposed in respect
of the series of transactions among Canco, Luxco and later Swissco,
Tenex and Urenco differed from those that would have been made
between persons dealing a arm's length within the meaning of
paragraph 247(2)(a) of the Income Tax Act.

With respect to the section entitled "Statutory Provisions, Grounds
Relied on, and Relief Sought", particulars of:

(b) with respect to paragraph 25,

(i) the series of transactions being referred to and the
transactions that congtitute the series;

(i) how the terms and conditions of those transactions differ
from those that would have been made between persons
dealing at arm's length; and
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(iii) whether Canco deals not at arm's length with each of
Tenex and Urenco.

17.

26. He further submits that the arrangements or events whereby Canco,
after lengthy negotiations with Tenex and Urenco for the purchase of
uranium, placed the contracts in the name of Luxco and later Swissco
would not have been carried out by persons dealing at arm's length and
can reasonably be considered not to have been entered into primarily
for bona fide purposes other than to obtain tax benefits within the
meaning of subsection 247(1) and paragraph 247(2)(b) of the Income
Tax Act.

With respect to the section entitled "Statutory Provisions, Grounds
Relied on, and Relief Sought", particulars of:

() with respect to paragraph 26, the arrangements or events
being referred to.

18.

28. He further submits that the agreements with Tenex and Urenco
being placed in the name of Luxco and ultimately in the name of
Swissco was a sham designed to deceive the Minister into believing
that the income and profit from those agreements did not belong to
Canco despite Canco being ultimately responsible for the performance
of those agreements and undertaking all functions in respect of those
agreements other than signing the contracts thereunder.

With respect to the section entitled "Statutory Provisions, Grounds
Relied on, and Relief Sought", particulars of:

(d) with respect to paragraph 28,
() the agreementsthat constitute the sham; and

(i) the functions undertaken by Canco in respect of the
agreements with Tenex and Urenco.
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b Helen Ferigan, of e City of Mississaaga, i e Province of Ontasia, MAKE

OATH AND BAY AS FOLLOWS,

1. Vam eenphoyed as an sssociute with Oaler, Hoskin & Harcout LLP (Osler™),
o] for the Applicant e (ke appeal of Comecs Corporaiion v Her
Magesny The Chieen, Courl File Mo, 200924300 THG (the “Auppeal), and as
such, bascd on my review of comespondence i the file, | have persanal

knopwledge of the mabiers reformed o in this affidavit, except where my

kepwledpe is sated 1o be on information ond belief, in which case | beliese it

Ln bsz Imse.

2 The Applicant commenced the Appeal by filing a Motice of Appesl on July
22, 2005, Adtnched as Exhibin “A% 1w this Alfidavit is an asthentic copy of the

Peatice of Appeal
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The Appeal &5 from a repssessmenl mzued by the Mimister of MNational
Revenue (the “Minister”) in respect of the Applicant's 2003 mxation year,
matice of which is dsted February 27, 2009 (the “Reassessment™). An
authentic copy of the Motice of Reassessment i= attached 2= Exhibit "B~ 1o
this Affidavit,

| am mdvised by Peter ). Macdonald, an associste 1 Osler who has been
ivolved in the Appesl, that by the Reassessment, the Canada Bevenus
Agency (the “CRA") increased the income of the Applicant purssnl Lo
paragrapbs 2470 Wa) and () of the Mcowee Tax Ao (Canada) (the “Act™) by
the amount it corsiderad Lo be all of the profits of an indirectly whelly-ownsed
subsidiary, Cameco Europe Lad. (“CEL™).

Having received the consent of the Applicant for an extensson of lime, the
Fespondent filed the Reply on Mowvember 27, 309 (ibe “Reply™). An
authentic copy of the Reply is attached as Exhibit “C™ to this Alfidavil,

1am advised by Peter ), Macdonald that an January 25, 2010, the Applican
served a letter ml:l-:;!ing & Derasd for Partsculars on the Respondent {the
“Demand”) for the purpose of defining the issues, allowing the Applicant 1w
know the case it had to mees and assasting the Applicant in deciding whether
te file am Answer, An authentic copy of the cover letier and Demand =
aitached ms Exhibi “D w this Affidaviz,

| am sdvised by Peser |, Macdonald that on or aboul February 19, 2000, the
parties agred, ansig other things, i exchanpe Lisis of Documents parsuant
T section B2 of the Tax Courr of Conada Rules (General Procedure).

Al e request of counscl for the Applcant, the Respondent gromed an
indlefinite exiession o file an Arswer to the Reply, such extension being
revocabls on 30 days nslics 1o the Applicant {the “{Consent 1o Extension”) ns
indicated i the parfies” joint betier 1o this Court dated Felbogary 24, 2000 An
authentic copy ol the pasties” lelber is aflached as Exhibit “E™ 10 this Affidavit,
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By e-mail dated February 23, 2010 sddressed 1o counsel for the Applicant (ike
“Fesporse to the Demand"'), counse] for the Respandent advised a5 follows:

.. Feriher o2 owr conversamen, this e-madl confimms il the
respandi=l i mol in @ position to provide B reipome b the
Appeilenis Dewasd fior Panticulars sereed on Januarg 25, 20100 In
the respondent’s view, most of the parbculars canmsl be knoen o
the respoader usiil the onclusion of discoveries andior e
exchanpe of exports repors. ..
An authentic copy of the Response to the Demand iz attached as Exhibit “F"

1o this Allidavil

By e-mail also dated February 23, 2000, sddressed- o comnsel for the
Respordent, counsel for the Applicant advised of the Applicant’s intention &
being & modion. An autheniic copy of the e-mil i siached as Exkibin =G" w
this Affidavit.

The Applicant sdvesed the Court of its intertion te bring the mation by letter
dated February 24, 20110, which is Exhibit “E™ to this Affidavit, The parties
alse requested at that time that the case be case managed and thal a case
managensent juldge be assigned so that, ameng other things, a motbon could be
scheduled.

By better daied March 17, 200, the Cowt confirmed that a case management
judge had been appointed and that a preliminary conference call was
schedubed for Murch 25, 2000, An authentic copy of the lesier |8 sttached as
Exhibun “H™ 10 this Afidavit.

By c-mmail dated March 22, 2000 addressad o coursel for the Bespondent {1he
“Request for Clanificstion”), counsel for the Applicant requesied clarification
i respect ol the Fesponse to the Demand as follows:

oo WE BE TN Se prois of proparing, for a meodion and | wesbed
confEm fhan Yol eidnl boow |the Responss do the Demand|
completely seis oWl your ressors B relisisg 10 provide any
partliculars inresponse o the Demaad. I Sffleul, for cammple,
o urdkersland Bow the Crowm cas be unaware of the maserial facis
m relalion w posiioes tha undeslie (he semdwmend We
erderidand pog b o=y fhal the Crows & orol sow aware ol

16
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parficulars with respect 10 the miw, allemative positions pleaded
Leim i v cefTiclt o apprecine ko fhis can be the cose with rrapect
B2 U2 ASSUSRLGS B reassesng.

I youl could eonfinm gt fhe cmail below is a complete satement
of your reasens, i will aissl s i making a final determonation of
whither o malion is accessary and i so, the seope of the motion.

An authentic copy of the Request for Clarification is sttsched as Exhibit *T* fo
this Affidavit,

By e-mail dated March 24, 2000 sddreazed to counsel for the Applicand {the
“Response w0 Reqoest for Claification™), coumsel for the Respondent
responied (o the Request for Clarification as fidlows:

<o Wi do o urderstand yoear email. [ yoe iniend oo Gl a o,

please do 5o 3l poUr carlel SSNVERISHGE 35 We BPE IREEHIS 10
mowe this mane Toreard, |

A atherdie copy of the Response to Request Tor Charification is atached as
Exhitbit “J” 1o this Affidasit.

The audit of the Applicant™s inlemationsl transctions by e CRA in respect
of the Applicant's 2003 taxation year commenced on or sbout January 10,
0T, An authentic copy of o leter from the CRA 1o the Applicant dated
January 1, 2007 ks attsched as Exhibit "K o this Affidavie

I am sdvised by Rardy Belosowsky, who is emploved with the Applicant as
Director - Special Progects, Ty, that b is sware of (he contemt of discussions
beiween the Applicant and the CRA in relation to this awdit and that at no
time prics i the serving of the Reply did the CRA of its representalives assen
that the CRA would rely on the dociring of sham or oo paragraphs 247(25h)
and () or subsection 5602 of the Ao,
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I am advised by Peter ). Macdonald and beliove that by Apsil 23, 2000, the
Applicant will file a Notice of Motion with the Tax Court of Canada for an
Orrder striking portions of the Reply. | make this Affidavit in support of this
meitian and For no olber or impeoper purpase.

SWORN BEFORE ME, Pooja

Samlani, at the City of Toronmo, in )
the Province of Owmlaro, on Apnl )

:l.igu ) o, R
1
£ Q-
. v P j HPLEN FERRIGAN
| T j
A Commissioner for Caths inand )

for the Provimes of Citaria

1%
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